2016

**I-D Electric, Inc. A Utah Corporation, Plaintiff and Appellee vs.
Linda Gillman, Defendant and Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

Jurisdiction

Appellate jurisdiction is vested in the Court of Appeals under Utah Code Annotated ("UCA") §78A-4-103(2)(j), and Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Issues for Review Standards of Review Preservation

1. **Mechanic's Lien Attorney Fees.** Defendant summarily defeated Plaintiff's two mechanic's liens before trial. The Mechanic's Lien statute, UCA §38-1-18, provides for attorney fees, as a matter of law, to the successful party defending against a lien under UCA §38-1-3. The trial court denied Defendant's attorney fees for successfully defeating the liens, and awarded Plaintiff its attorney fees for losing them.

Issue for Review: In its interpretation of UCA §38-1-18, did the trial court err in awarding attorney fees to the losing party on the mechanic's liens?

Standard of Review: Statutory interpretation and legislative intent are questions of law, reviewed *de novo* for correctness.

See Adams v. State, 2005 UT 62, ¶18, 123 P.3d 400; Gonzales v. Morris, 610 P.2d 1285, 1286 (Utah 1980) (citing Henrie v. Rocky Mountain Packaging Corp., 113 Utah 444, 202 P.2d 727 (1949))

Preservation: Appellant preserved this issue in the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. 143-152)

2. **Wrongful Lien.** The Wrongful Lien statute, UCA §38-9-1, specifies that a lien is wrongful, and subject to legislated sanctions, if it is not authorized by statute, the court, or the property owner. Plaintiff's mechanic's lien on Defendant's property had no

statutory authorization. Though the mechanic's lien did not cross the statutory 'entitlement' threshold of UCA §38-1-3, the trial court ruled it was not wrongful because it was "statutory," but "unenforceable."

Issue for Review: In its interpretation of UCA §38-1-3 and UCA §38-9-1, holding that Plaintiff's mechanic's lien was not wrongful, did the trial court err in denying statutory damages and attorney fees to Defendant?

Standard of Review: Statutory interpretation and legislative intent are questions of law, reviewed *de novo* for correctness.

Pratt v. Pugh, 2010 UT App 219, ¶7, 238 P.3d 1073; Russell v. Thomas, 2000 UT App 82, ¶8, 999 P.2d 1244

Preservation: Appellant preserved this issue in the Counter Petition to Nullify Wrongful Lien. (R. 17-31)

3. **Contract.** Plaintiff and Defendant formed a contract for electrical services. At trial, Plaintiff advocated only for an express contract. Despite the court's finding that there was never an agreement on price, the court ruled there was an express contract and awarded Plaintiff the full amount of charges it arbitrarily computed.

Issue for Review: Without an agreement for price, did the trial court err in its conclusion of law, that there was an express contract formed between Plaintiff and Defendant, rather than a contract implied-in-fact?

Standard of Review: Questions of law are reviewed *de novo* for correctness.

John Deere Co. v. A & H Equip., 876 P.2d 880, 883 (Utah Ct.App. 1994) (citing Herm Hughes & Sons, Inc. v. Quintek, 834 P.2d 582, 583 (Utah App.1992))

Preservation: Appellant preserved this issue in the Written Closing Argument of Defendant. (R. 602-622)

Statutes Of Interpretative Importance To Determine Appeal

1. UCA §38-1-3: Mechanic's Liens (Addendum)
2. UCA §38-1-18: Mechanic's Lien Attorney Fees (Addendum)
3. UCA §38-9-1: Wrongful Liens (Addendum)
4. UCA §38-9-4: Wrongful Lien Sanctions (Addendum)

Statement of the Case

This simple contract case over a disputed electrical services invoice totaling \$1,827.61 is now entering its sixth year of litigation, generating attorney fees that are on course to exceed \$100,000, and consuming significant judicial resources. The amount at stake was never the \$1,827.61 invoice total, but only a few hundred dollars. By the end of this litigation, attorney fees will approximate 10,000% of those few hundred. The disproportionate value of wasted judicial resources can never be calculated.

In March 2011, Plaintiff, I-D Electric (I-D), worked one day on a house in Herriman owned by Defendant, Linda Gillman (Gillman), and sent her an invoice. She immediately disputed the amount as excessive and offered to pay a reasonable sum.¹ I-D refused to negotiate over the few hundred dollars of difference, instead electing the harshest device at its disposal—mechanic's liens.

I-D filed two successive mechanic's liens. Both were unlawful. Both were eventually defeated summarily, but not before tens of thousands of dollars in attorney fees were expended. The mammoth attorney fees arising from I-D's failed mechanic's

¹ Exhibit 6, May 6, 2011 Gillman Letter to I-D

liens would drive this case, not the underlying contract claim. (R. 752:3²; 757:7-758:8³; 816:4⁴)

Compounding the litigation complications and expense I-D instigated with the two mechanic's liens, the first lien was filed against a Salt Lake condominium Gillman owned that was unrelated to the electrical work on the Herriman house, introducing the collateral issue of whether this first lien, merely purporting to authority under the Mechanic's Lien statute, UCA §38-1-3, also qualified as "wrongful" under UCA §38-9-1, the Wrongful Lien statute.

The mechanic's liens and the wrongful lien issue completely engulfed the litigation for more than three years. By the time the second lien on the Herriman house was dismissed on summary judgment in July 2013, I-D had done nothing to prosecute the contract claim, but accumulated attorney fees were massive—all attributed to the lien issues. (R. 753:8²; 758:10³) No discovery was ever conducted in this case. (R. 753:7²; 758:9³)

The bloated attorney fees on lien litigation became the impossible barrier to a negotiated resolution of the case, as I-D jockeyed for some means of escaping that liability. I-D would not negotiate a resolution without the *quid pro quo* that Gillman first abandon her statutory right to attorney fees for defeating the liens. (R. 752:3²; 757:5-758:8³; 759:11³) Meanwhile, the contract claim lay dormant and the court twice ordered

² Affidavit of Mark D. Stubbs, Attorney For Defendant

³ Declaration of Paul D. Dodd, Attorney For Defendant

⁴ Order on Motion For Attorney Fees

I-D to show cause why it should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute. (R. 243-244⁵; 294-295⁶) The second order to show cause in February 2014, finally forced I-D to confront the contract claim, which would not commence until July 2014, more than three years after the onset of litigation.

I-D voluntarily dismissed the first lien. Judge Anthony Quinn's summary dismissal of the second lien in July 2013 was a crucial juncture in the case. Gillman had defeated both mechanic's liens and held the statutory right to attorney fees, which then exceeded \$12,000. (R. 387:18-20⁷; 753:10⁸) Facing that statutory obligation, I-D shifted its litigation strategy in the summer of 2013, cultivating a theme that would endure throughout trial and beyond:

Gillman was to blame for I-D's misplaced mechanic's liens because she knew, or should have known, that they were unlawful, and she failed to correct I-D before those liens conclusively broke lien law.

I-D further postulated that Gillman was accountable for I-D's exposure under the Wrongful Lien statute, *creating* the wrongful lien as a "cause of action" by her conduct:

If Gillman had just educated I-D in time to evade the illegality of the mechanic's liens, the wrongful lien on the Salt Lake condo could never have been an issue.

This unfounded, '*Gillman-fault*' theory depended on re-litigation of the mechanic's lien issue, which I-D accomplished at trial, countermanding Judge Quinn's

⁵ Order to Show Cause, May 2, 2013

⁶ Order to Show Cause, February 7, 2014

⁷ Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

⁸ Affidavit of Mark D. Stubbs, Attorney For Defendant

summary judgment decision in July 2013 and taking advantage of the fragmented oversight by no fewer than six judges in the case.⁹

The appropriate, remaining issues for trial were the contract claim and the wrongful lien question. The mechanic's liens and the lien foreclosure actions were summarily disposed long before trial. Nevertheless, the court included in its contract and wrongful lien rulings, the '*Gillman-fault*' mantra, re-litigating the mechanic's liens to assess Gillman for attorney fees and costs expended throughout the litigation.

In its Complaint, I-D pled its express contract claim and alternatives of quantum meruit and unjust enrichment. (*R. 80:23-81:26*¹⁰) At trial, I-D argued only for an express contract, and the court entered both findings and conclusions to that effect. The solitary writing between Gillman and I-D was a sketchy work order that included no pricing. The court entered a finding that there was never an agreement for price, which was incompatible with its conclusion of law that there was a binding, express contract. Consistent with its conclusion that the contract was express, the court awarded I-D its full charges of \$1,827.61 as damages.

The court ruled that the mechanic's lien on the Salt Lake condo was not wrongful, because it was "statutory," albeit "unenforceable." Applying the '*Gillman-fault*' theory, the court drew a conclusion of law that it was Gillman's conduct that made the

⁹ This case was originally assigned to Judge Anthony Quinn. Judge Quinn's two accidents moved the case through the hands of six judges (Quinn, Faust, Lindberg, Pueller, Parker, McKelvie). Judge McKelvie inherited the case in July 2014, at pre-trial.

¹⁰ Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint

mechanic's lien unenforceable. Hence, the court denied her any damages because she created "the wrongful lien cause of action."

The only contractual writing between I-D and Gillman was the work order. It included a provision for "reasonable" attorney fees. The court made no attempt to calculate attorney fees on the "reasonable" basis of those factors, as grounded in law, and entered no findings on that core precedent. Invoking the '*Gillman-fault*' maxim, the court awarded I-D its fees in *equity*, because:

- The Herriman house mechanic's lien was not unlawful.
- Gillman did not timely pay the express contract obligation, which virtually compelled I-D to file the mechanic's liens—making her responsible for all the consequences.
- Gillman conspired to use I-D's "harmless error" on its mechanic's liens to "create a wrongful lien cause of action."

The court awarded I-D \$27,821.96 for attorney fees in June 2015, which included 24% in pre-judgment interest that Plaintiff did not plead, but the court bestowed, *sua sponte*. Combined contract damages, attorney fees, and interest totaled to a judgment of \$31,458.02.

I-D filed for an amended judgment on July 15, 2015, seeking additional attorney fees of \$5,481.27, increasing the total judgment to \$36,939.29. The court entered I-D's proposed order for the amended judgment two days later on July 17, 2015, allowing Gillman no chance to respond. Gillman filed Notice of Appeal on August 10, 2015.

Statement of Facts

1. Gillman resided in a Salt Lake City condominium she owned ("Salt Lake condo"). Gillman jointly owned a house in Herriman ("Herriman house"). (R. 652:19, Findings of Fact; 403-404:2-4, Affidavit of Defendant)
2. **March 10, 2011**: Gillman engaged I-D for electrical service on the Herriman house, meeting I-D there in the afternoon to review the work. Gillman's primary purpose was to clear the trusses in the garage attic of electrical wires, so that a floor could be laid to accommodate storage. (R. 648:3¹¹, Findings of Fact, 404:7, Affidavit of Defendant)
3. **March 11, 2011 (Friday)**: I-D worked one day on the Herriman house. Gillman was there most of the day and signed a work order before leaving. (R. Exhibit 2; 404-405:10-11,13, Affidavit of Defendant; 648:4-6, 653:24-25, Findings of Fact)
4. **March 12, 2011 (Saturday)**: Gillman returned to the Herriman house and discovered I-D had not moved most of the wiring that cluttered the garage attic trusses, preventing installation of the attic floor that was the primary purpose of the work: The main electrical line, 220 line, ground line, coaxial line, telephone lines, and other romex lines still randomly draped the area. (R. 650:12, Findings of Fact; 405:12, Affidavit of Defendant; 1324:13-18; 1355:6-17; 1356:24-1358:1; 1382:1-1383:3)

¹¹The court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order and Order On Motion For Attorney Fees did not fully designate paragraphs by number or letter. For convenience of reference, those designations were added to the court's originals and appear as superscript. The altered originals are Tab #1 and Tab #2 in the Addendum.

5. **March 14, 2011 (Monday)**: Kim Olson, president of I-D, called Gillman to report that the cost of the work was \$1,827.61. Gillman protested immediately.
(R. 405:15, Affidavit of Defendant; 1112:20-23; 1186:10-17; 1190:19-23)
6. **March 24, 2011**: I-D sent Gillman an invoice for \$1,827.61. Gillman made a hand notation on the remittance copy, asking for a labor allocation against each of the tasks on the work order and mailed it back. *(R. Exhibit 4; 654:28, Findings of Fact; 405:16-17, Affidavit of Defendant; 1366:13-22)*
7. **April 7, 2011**: Olson responded by letter to Gillman's request for the labor allocation. *(R. Exhibit 5; 650:12, Findings of Fact; 405:17-18, Affidavit of Defendant)*
8. **May 6, 2011**: Gillman replied to Olson's labor breakdown, challenging the validity of the charges and offering to pay a reasonable amount for the work accomplished. I-D never answered. *(R. Exhibit 6; 405-406:19-22, Affidavit of Defendant; 1145:2-9; 1169:5-13; 1366:23-1368:9; 1371:25-1372:3)*
9. **May 12, 2011**: Olson turned the Gillman account over to I-D's counsel for collection. *(R. 607, Billing Records, Brady Gibbs)*
10. **June 15, 2011 (approx.)**: Gillman was out of town until about mid-June. On her return, notice of certified mail was waiting, but had already been returned to the sender on May 28th. The postman had written "Wrona Law Firm" on the notice. Not recognizing the name, Gillman found a number and called to inquire after the certified mail. She was connected to Brady Gibbs (Gibbs), who informed her that a lien had been filed against her property to collect the I-D invoice. Gillman

expressed surprise that a lien would be filed over such a small amount of money, particularly since Olson had never replied to her May 6th letter, offering to settle. Gillman specifically advised Gibbs that she was working out of state and could be gone for weeks at a time, asking him to send her regular mail, not time-sensitive certified mail, as she might not be in town to receive it. Gibbs did not comply, twice sending more certified mail that was returned while Gillman was away. Gillman offered Gibbs \$650 to settle. (R. 406:23-407:27, Affidavit of Defendant; Exhibits 8, 9, 26; 1368:12-1372:13; 1375:24-1376:4; 1147:24-1148:22)

11. Following this initial phone call with Gibbs, Gillman checked the County Recorder's records for a lien on the Herriman house, but found nothing. (R. 654:30, Findings of Fact; 406:26-407:29, Affidavit of Defendant; 1375:13-1376:4) Unknown to Gillman at the time, I-D had recorded a mechanic's lien against her Salt Lake City condominium, where no work or materials were ever provided, claiming authority under UCA §38-1-3. (R. Exhibit 10; 654:30, Findings of Fact; 407:29, Affidavit of Defendant)
12. **June 21, 2011 (approx.):** Gibbs called Gillman to convey a counteroffer of \$1,650, which Gillman evaluated as unrealistic. She suggested Gibbs ask I-D for a more equitable amount. Gibbs never contacted Gillman again to pursue settlement negotiation. (R. 407:27, Affidavit of Defendant; 1372:24-1373:9; 1145:2-9) Olson testified at trial that he directed Gibbs to convey a lower counteroffer of \$1,350. (R. 1215:1-10) Gillman testified she never heard that number, except

during Olson's trial testimony. Gibbs' billing records indicate no other phone calls to Gillman. (R. 1373:25-1374:10; 670)

13. During the call, Gillman asked Gibbs to confirm that a lien had been filed, as she could not find one in the county records, which he did. Gillman checked the county records twice in succeeding weeks, but found no lien on the Herriman house. (R. 407:28-29, Affidavit of Defendant; 1375:13-1376:4; 1145:10-16; 1147:2-10)
14. ➔ **Sept. 8, 2011**: The 180-day, statutory deadline to file a mechanic's lien on the Herriman house expired, as a matter of law, under UCA §38-1-3.
15. **September 22, 2011**: I-D filed suit to foreclose the mechanic's lien on the Salt Lake condo. (R. 1-11, Complaint, Summons)
16. **September 25, 2011 (approx.)**: Service of the foreclosure lawsuit¹² was Gillman's first information that I-D had filed a lien on the Salt Lake condo. (R. 654:30, Findings of Fact; 407:29, Affidavit of Defendant; 1373:10-12; 1148:12-1149:17) The mechanic's lien notice was appended to the Complaint. (R. Exhibit 10; 1-8, Complaint)
17. **November 4, 2011**: I-D filed a lis pendens on the Salt Lake condo, almost two months past the statutory deadline. (R. Exhibit 11)
18. **November 11, 2011**: Gillman personally delivered a letter to I-D—notifying that the mechanic's lien and lis pendens on the Salt Lake condo had no legal basis,

¹² Gillman was not personally served with the Complaint. The process server pushed the paperwork under the garage door of Gillman's condo, which she noticed a couple of days following the date notation in the service block of the Summons. (R. 9)

- requesting that they be immediately removed. (R. Exhibit 12; 408:32-33, Affidavit of Defendant)
19. **December 5, 2011**: Gillman petitioned the Court to nullify the wrongful lien on the Salt Lake condo. (R. 17-31, Petition to Nullify Wrongful Lien)
 20. **December 6, 2011**: I-D “amended” the Salt Lake condo lien by substituting the legal description of the Herriman house—three months past the statutory deadline, which had expired Sept. 8, 2011. (R. Exhibit 16) Gillman’s counsel warned Gibbs that any amendment was well beyond the statutory deadline and illegal. (R. 757-758:3-7, Declaration of Paul D. Dodd, Attorney For Defendant) The “amendment” effected a voluntary release of the mechanic’s lien on the Salt Lake condo, but liened the Herriman house. I-D released the lis pendens. (Exhibit 15)
 21. **December 19, 2011**: I-D filed its First Amended Complaint, pleading the same causes of action as its original, substituting the Herriman house for the Salt Lake condo. (R. 76-87, First Amended Complaint)
 22. **September 4, 2012**: Gillman filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to remove the Herriman house lien and dismiss the lien foreclosure cause of action. (R. 143-152)
 23. **September 28, 2012**: Gillman submitted a Rule 68 Offer of Judgment for \$1,000. I-D never responded. (R. 758:8, Declaration of Paul D. Dodd, Attorney For Defendant)
 24. **May 2, 2013**: Judge Quinn ordered I-D to show cause why the case should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute. (R. 243-244, Order to Show Cause)

25. **July 8, 2013:** Judge Quinn granted Gillman's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, dismissing the mechanic's lien and foreclosure cause of action on the Herriman house, and finding the I-D in violation of the Mechanic's Lien statute. (R. 284-288, Order)
26. **February 7, 2014:** The court ordered I-D to show cause why the case should not be dismissed for failure to prosecute the contract claim. Gillman was forced to prematurely plead her attorney fees. (R. 294-295, Order to Show Cause; 296-348, Defendant's Motion for Order Granting Attorney Fees and Costs)
27. ➔ **June 2, 2014:** Trial Judge, Richard McKelvie, was assigned the case. See Docket
28. ➔ **July 10, 2014:** I-D launched its 'Gillman-fault' theme at the pre-trial conference, which would re-litigate the lien issues at trial and overshadow the trial rulings. (R. 581-582, Minutes; 967:1-970:9, Transcript)
29. **November 10, 2014:** The bench trial was scheduled for one day. I-D used the day for its case-in-chief, taking two-thirds of the time. See Clerk's Index
30. **November 13, 2014:** Trial reconvened at 2:00 p.m., concluding at approximately 4:50 p.m. Gillman presented her case in one hour, 30 minutes and I-D cross-examined for one hour, 10 minutes. See Clerk's Index
31. **Post-Trial:**
- **November 21, 2014:** Gillman written Closing Argument (R. 602-622)
I-D written Closing Argument (R. 625-644)
 - **January 29, 2015:** Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (R. 647-658)

- **February 4, 2015:** I-D's Motion for Attorney Fees, Costs and Interest (R. 660-673)
- **February 12, 2015:** Gillman's Rule 52 Motion to Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (pled entitlement to attorney fees for defeating the mechanic's liens) (R. 676-684)
- **March 18, 2015:** Ruling and Order on Motion to Amend (denying Gillman's Rule 52 Motion) (R. 739-741)
- **April 3, 2015:** Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Attorney Fees (R. 742-793)
- **June 8, 2015:** Order on Motion for Attorney Fees (R. 815-818)
- **June 25, 2015:** Gillman's Objection to Proposed Judgment (challenged pre-judgment interest on attorney fees that I-D did not plead) (R. 824-828)
- **July 9, 2015:** Order Denying Defendant's Objection to Proposed Order (R. 849-850)
- **July 9, 2015:** Judgment (R. 851-853)
- **July 15, 2015:** I-D's Application for Amendment of Judgment (R. 856-869)
- **July 17, 2015:** Judgment (ex-parte order, granting I-D's motion to increase attorney fees by \$5,481.27) (R. 874-876)
- **August 10, 2015:** Gillman's Notice of Appeal (R. 879-880)

Summary of Argument

I. I-D filed two mechanic's liens, the first on Gillman's Salt Lake condo, the second on her Herriman house. The liens were summarily disposed before trial and I-D lost both of them. Gillman held a statutory right to her attorney fees for defeating them.

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