2016

**I-D Electric, Inc. A Utah Corporation, Plaintiff and Appellee vs.
Linda Gillman, Defendant and Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: In sections I and II of her brief, Gillman argues that she is entitled to statutory attorney fees for this entire case because she defeated I-D Electric's Amended Lien on summary judgment. However, after the court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, Gillman filed a Rule 52 Motion to Amend. That motion was denied without any appeal from Gillman. Accordingly, this Court has no jurisdiction to hear Gillman's section I and II claims. Alternatively, pursuant to the terms of the parties' contract, and after performing a flexible and reasoned analysis, the court appropriately granted I-D Electric's attorney fees as the prevailing party, and denied Gillman's attorney fees.

POINT II: Gillman next claims the court erred in finding that I-D Electric's Amended Lien was not wrongful under the Wrongful Lien Act. The Amended Lien, although untimely recorded, was not wrongful because it had a statutory basis under UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-3; it was recorded pursuant to work performed on property. Despite being mistakenly placed on the wrong property; the original Lien was recorded in good faith. In any event, statutory analysis of the Wrongful Lien Act reveals that Gillman was not entitled to use the Act as a bludgeon to escape a valid debt and create a claim for attorney fees against I-D Electric. Moreover, Gillman suffered no harm from the erroneous Lien, and therefore, has no cause of action.

POINT III: Lastly, Gillman claims the court erred in finding an express contract between the parties. However, an examination of the contract and the circumstances under which the agreement was executed reveals that the work order constituted a valid and binding agreement. All of the necessary elements of a binding contract are present. The parties had a clear meeting of the minds—I-D Electric expected to be paid for its services and materials provided, and Gillman expected to pay. Gillman signed the work order agreeing to pay for the services she received, and for attorney fees and costs. The missing price was not an essential term of the contract, and therefore, did not affect its validity.

POINT IV: I-D Electric is entitled to its attorney fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER GILLMAN'S CLAIM TO STATUTORY ATTORNEY FEES, AND ALTERNATIVELY, THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING I-D ELECTRIC ITS ATTORNEY FEES AND IN DENYING GILLMAN'S ATTORNEY FEES

The trial court awarded attorney fees to I-D Electric pursuant to contract, and not under Utah's mechanic's lien statute. *See* R. 655-58. On appeal, however, Gillman claims that she is entitled to statutory attorney fees and costs because she defeated I-D Electric's Amended Lien on summary judgment. *See* Br. of Appt. at 16-28. Gillman made this exact claim within the context of her Rule 52 Motion to Amend Findings of Fact, and Conclusions of Law, which motion was denied by the trial court. *See* R. 739-

41. Because Gillman failed to timely appeal this claim, this Court lacks jurisdiction over Gillman's claims. Alternatively, the trial court acted within its discretion in awarding I-D Electric its attorney fees and costs, and in denying Gillman's claim to attorney fees.

A. Where Gillman Failed to Timely Appeal her Rule 52(b) Motion to Amend, this Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over Gillman's Claim to Statutory Attorney Fees.

In sections I and II of her brief, Gillman claims that she is entitled to attorney fees and costs pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1-18. Br. of Aplt. at 16-28. Section 38-1-18 provides: "in any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys' fee, to be fixed by the court, which shall be taxed as costs in the action." UTAH CODE ANN. 38-1-18 (2001).⁶ Because the trial court granted Gillman's Partial Motion for Summary Judgment, thereby dismissing I-D Electric's Amended Lien, Gillman claims she is entitled to all of her attorney fees pursuant to section 38-1-18. Br. of Aplt. at 16-28. This Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Gillman's section I and II claims.

Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, allows an appeal from a district court to an appellate court with jurisdiction over the appeal "from all final orders and judgments, except as otherwise provided by law, by filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the trial court within the time allowed by Rule 4." UTAH R. APP. P. 3(a). Rule 4(a) specifies that the time for filing an appeal is "within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from." UTAH R. APP. P. 4(a). After a trial judgment is

⁶ Effective May 8, 2012, section 38-1-18 was renumbered by the legislature as UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-1a-707 (2012).

rendered, Rule 52(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure permits a party to move to amend the judgment. *See* UTAH R. CIV. P. 52(b). Accordingly, Rule 4(b) extends the time for appealing a motion to amend made pursuant to Rule 52(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. *Id.* at 4(b)(1)(B). Thus, to appeal from a final order disposing of a Rule 52(b) motion to amend, “a party must file a notice of appeal . . . within the prescribed time measured from the entry of the order.” *Id.* at (b)(2).

“As a general rule, an appellate court lacks jurisdiction over an appeal that is not taken from a final order or judgment.” *Anderson v. Wilshire Invs., LLC*, 2005 UT 59, ¶ 9, 123 P.3d 393. The Utah Supreme Court has affirmed that “[w]hen a party files a post-judgment motion pursuant to [] rule 52(b) . . ., a notice of appeal must be filed after the order disposing of the motion is entered in order to vest jurisdiction in this court.” *Swenson Associates Architects, P.C. v. State*, 889 P.2d 415, (Utah 1994). This Court has also followed that directive. *See Kurth v. Wiarda*, 1999 UT App 153, ¶ 5, 981 P.2d 417 (“To vest jurisdiction in the appellate court, the notice of appeal must be filed after entry of the order disposing of [Rule 52(b)] motions.”); *DeBry v. Fidelity Nat’l Title Ins. Co.*, 828 P.2d 520, 523-24 (Utah App.1992) (Where the appellant failed to file a notice of appeal within 30 days from the date their Rule 52(b) motion was denied, the appellate court was without jurisdiction to hear the appeal).

In this case, the trial court awarded I-D Electric its attorney fees and costs on the basis of contract. *See* R. 655-58. Gillman timely appealed that issue. *See* R. 879-880. But that is not the issue that Gillman raises before this Court in sections I and II of her brief. Instead, Gillman claims that the trial court erred by not awarding her attorney fees

pursuant to section 38-1-18. *See* Br. of Aplt. at 16-28. Gillman's claim to statutory attorney fees raises the same claims on appeal (nearly verbatim) as the claims she brought before the trial court in her Rule 52(b) motion to amend. *See* R. 678-84, 722-32. The trial court denied Gillman's motion on March 18, 2015, thereby terminating her claim to statutory attorney fees and creating a final and appealable judgement. R. 739-41. Gillman did not file a notice of appeal in this case until nearly five months later on August 10, 2015. R. 879-80. Where Gillman failed to file a notice of appeal within thirty days from March 18, 2015, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear Gillman's claims as to the issue of statutory attorney fees. Accordingly, Gillman's section I and II claims should be dismissed.⁷

B. Under the Terms of the Parties' Contract, the Trial Court Appropriately Awarded I-D Electric its Attorney Fees and Denied Gillman's Attorney Fees.

Irrespective of whether this Court has jurisdiction to decide Gillman's section I and II claims, the Trial court appropriately awarded I-D Electric its attorney fees and denied Gillman's attorney fees. In arguing that the trial court erred by not awarding her

⁷ In *ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Raile*, the Utah Supreme Court held that "[w]here attorney fees are awarded to a party, whether denominated as an item of 'costs' or not, and the amount is not stated in the judgment rendered on the merits of the case, and evidence must be taken afterwards by the trial court either by affidavit or live testimony, there is no final judgment for the purposes of appeal until the amount of the fees has been ascertained and granted." *ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Raile*, 2000 UT 4, ¶ 12, 998 P.2d 254. But the *ProMax* rule is not applicable to this case because Gillman asserted her claims to statutory attorney fees under a Rule 52(b) motion to amend, and the trial court denied Gillman's request for attorney's fees in its Ruling and Order on Motion to Amend. *See Anderson*, 2005 UT 59, ¶ 28 ("The *ProMax* rule is inapplicable to cases where . . . a court makes an outright denial of a request for attorney fees. For the attorney fees issue to be pending, there must be something left for the district court to decide.").

statutory attorney fees, Gillman ignores the obvious—it was pursuant to the parties’ contract that the trial court determined that I-D Electric was the prevailing party, and therefore, was entitled to an award of its attorney fees. *See* R. 655-58. Although the issue of whether attorney fees should be awarded is reviewed for correctness, the determination of which party prevailed in a civil action—and thus may be entitled to attorney fees—is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See Fericks*, 2004 UT 85, ¶ 22; *Anderson*, 2012 UT App 275, ¶ 8. The trial court correctly concluded that the parties’ contract permitted an attorney fees award, and the court acted within its discretion in awarding I-D Electric its attorney fees, and in denying Gillman’s attorney fees.

(1) **The Signed Work Order Permitted an Award of Attorney Fees.**

In this case, the work order signed by Gillman permitted the trial court to award attorney fees to the parties. “In Utah, attorney fees are awardable only if authorized by statute or by contract.” *Dixie State Bank v. Bracken*, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988).

Utah's reciprocal attorney fee statute states:

A court may award costs and attorney fees to either party that prevails in a civil action based upon any promissory note, written contract, or other writing executed after April 28, 1986, when the provisions of the promissory note, written contract, or other writing allow at least one party to recover attorney fees.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B–5–826 (2008).

“Where the terms of a contract provide for the award of attorney fees, such fees are awarded as a matter of legal right.” *Saunders v. Sharp*, 818 P.2d 574, 579 (Utah App. 1991) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Consequently, “[p]rovisions in written contracts providing for the payment of attorney[] fees should ordinarily be

honored by the courts.”” *Federated Capital Corp. v. Haner*, 2015 UT App 132, ¶ 13, 351 P.3d 816 (quoting *Soffe v. Ridd*, 659 P.2d 1082, 1085 (Utah 1983), *abrogated on other grounds by Commercial Real Estate Inv., LC v. Comcast of Utah II, Inc.*, 2012 UT 49, 285 P.3d 1193). Attorney fees should be awarded ““where no compelling reasons appear otherwise.”” *Id.*; *see also Trayner v. Cushing*, 688 P.2d 856, 858 (Utah 1984) (“Where the parties have agreed by contract to the payment of attorney fees, the court may award reasonable fees in accordance with the terms of the parties’ agreement.”).

In the instant case, Gillman admittedly signed the work order, which clearly states: “Purchaser agrees to pay all costs and expenses including reasonable attorney’s fees in the event collection becomes necessary.” R. 649, Trial Exhibit 2. On that basis, the trial court correctly made an award of attorney fees. *See Saunders*, 818 P.2d at 579.

(2) **The Trial Court Acted Within its Discretion in Determining that I-D Electric was the Prevailing Party.**

Upon weighing the evidence adduced at trial, the court determined that I-D Electric was the prevailing party in its breach of contract claim, and that I-D Electric was entitled to its attorney fees and costs. R. 647-59. Additionally, the trial court “recognized no cause of action for which [Gillman] may be entitled to fees.” R. 657-58. Despite the trial court’s earlier decision granting Gillman’s Partial Motion for Summary Judgment on I-D Electric’s Amended Lien foreclosure action, the trial court acted within its discretion in determining at trial that I-D Electric was the overall prevailing party.

Section 78B–5–826 “provides no guidance as to when fees should be awarded.” *Bilanzich v. Lonetti*, 2007 UT 26, ¶ 17, 160 P.3d 1041. Accordingly, “district courts

should look to the policies underlying the statute in exercising [the] discretion” allowed.

Id. Accordingly, “a court's discretion to award or deny attorney fees under the statute must be exercised in furtherance of the statute's policy of allocating the risk of paying attorney fees equally between the party protected by the statute and the party protected by the contract.” *Federated Capital Corp.*, 2015 UT App 132, ¶ 12.

Furthermore, “[a]lthough . . . an award [of attorney fees] is a matter of legal right, it must be reasonable and supported by adequate evidence.” *Equitable Life & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Ross*, 849 P.2d 1187, 1194 (Utah App.1993) (citing *Hoth v. White*, 799 P.2d 213, 219 (Utah App.1990)). “Determination of such fees is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and will not be overturned unless there is a showing of a clear abuse of discretion.” *Id.* (citing *Dixie State Bank*, 764 P.2d 985, 989).

Here, the trial court reasonably exercised its discretion by examining evidence of the parties’ actions contributing to the substantial accrual of attorney’s fees and costs in the case.⁸ The trial court summarized its findings stating: “the expenses in this case, born by both parties, have been exacerbated by [Gillman’s] continued and unreasonable efforts to avoid paying a contractual obligation, and by attempting to use [I-D Electric’s] harmless (and arguable beneficial, to [Gillman]) error to create a wrongful lien cause of action.” R. 815.

⁸There is compelling record evidence that Gillman’s attorney fees incurred in this case were minimal at best. At trial, Gillman admitted that “I have drafted most of the pleadings [in the instant case;]” and “I didn’t draft the initial pleading but I’ve drafted most of the rest.” R. 652, 1093-95. Those admissions reveal that it was Gillman and not her attorney that did the lion’s share of work in this case.

The trial record is rife with evidence of Gillman's unreasonable efforts to avoid payment and create fees. Those efforts included a pattern of Gillman's intentional unwillingness to directly confront I-D Electric's billing issues, respond to letters, and return phone calls, which "contributed greatly to the costs incurred by [I-D Electric] in collecting the debt." R. 650, n. 4. Of particular note is Gillman's and her attorney's unethical decision to deliver Gillman's vague November 11, 2011 Letter requesting release of the Lien directly to Olson, which was done for the express purpose of avoiding a timely correction of the Lien, and to create a wrongful lien claim. *See* R. 655. Overall, there are many examples of Gillman's use of her legal acumen and extensive knowledge of construction and the construction industry to avoid payment and to set a trap for I-D Electric. *See* R. 647-59, 815-18. I-D Electric, on the other hand, was simply trying to get paid for the work it performed, which payment never came. *See id.*

Because Gillman breached the parties' contract, and failed in her claim for wrongful lien, the trial court acted within its discretion in finding that I-D Electric was the prevailing party, and therefore, entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to the parties' contract.⁹

⁹ There various other instances in the record that support the trial court's finding that Gillman was not the prevailing party. For example, although not mentioned by the trial court in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, the court denied Gillman's Counter Petition to Nullify Lien, which Gillman did not appeal. R. 275. The statutes governing Gillman's failed petition contain an attorney's fee provision. UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-205(5)(c) provides that where a petitioner fails to nullify a lien, the court "may award costs and reasonable attorney's fees to the lien claimant." UTAH CODE ANN. § 38-9-205(5)(c) (2014). Under that statute, I-D Electric may be entitled to attorney fees and costs for defending against Gillman's petition.

(3) **The Trial Court Correctly Applied the Flexible and Reasoned Approach in Awarding I-D Electric's Attorney Fees.**

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